

# AgileAssets - Roads and Highways LRS Interface

User's Guide

8/20/2018

AgileAssets Inc. 3001 Bee Caves Rd., Ste 200 Austin, TX 78746 Ph. 512.327.4200 Fx. 512.328.7246 www.agileassets.com





# Revisions

Date	Author	Description
May 2015	Phil Hardy	Initial release
May 2016	Phil Hardy	Updated links to Esri help pages to version 10.3.1. Updated snapshots of AgileAssets screens to version 7.1. Added configuration step to install native FGDB libraries. Added configuration step to make a table temporal. Added lists of reasons to the Invalid reports.
June 2017	Phil Hardy	Updated links to Esri help pages to version 10.5. Updated registering external events to match 10.4 and 10.5. Updated to explain extra fields on the LRS Interface Setup window. Updated Test Mode reports section to include possible error text messages. Added link to Troubleshooting web page.
August 2018	Phil Hardy	Added "Interface Log" section. Added "Configure Excluded Tables and Interface Type" subsection. Added clarification on how to handle the Export Network web service when there are no alternate LRMs. Mention that the Invalidity reports apply to Full Mode as well. Clarify which LRM needs to be the Network Layer for the Export Network web service.

©2018 AgileAssets Inc.

All rights reserved. All text and figures included in this publication are the exclusive property of AgileAssets Inc. for the sole use of its clients and employees. This material may not be copied, reproduced, or used in any way without the express written permission of AgileAssets Inc.

Information in this document is subject to change without notice and does not represent a commitment on the part of AgileAssets Inc.

This document may contain registered trademarks, trademarks, and service marks that are owned by their respective companies or organizations. AgileAssets Inc. disclaims any responsibility for specifying which marks are owned by which companies or organizations. If you have any comments or suggestions regarding this document, please send them to: AgileAssets Inc.

3001 Bee Caves Road, Suite 200, Austin TX 78746 Phone (512) 327-4200 • Fax (512) 328-7246 <u>www.agileassets.com</u>



# Table of contents

Re	vision	S	2
1	Intro	duction	5
	1.1	Prerequisites	5
2	Conf	iguration of the Interface between the Systems	7
	2.1	Configure the Interface on the AgileAssets System	7
	2.2	Configure LRMs on the AgileAssets System	9
	2.3	Make a Connection between ArcCatalog and the AgileAssets System	.10
	2.4	Register External Events with Roads and Highways	.10
	2.5	Register the Roads & Highways database with ArcGIS Server	.11
	2.6	Create Roads and Highways Export Network Web Service	.11
	2.7	Create Roads and Highways Relocate Events Web Services	.12
	2.8	Complete Interface Configuration on the AgileAssets System	.13
	2.9	Install native FGDB libraries	.15
	2.10	Make at least one event table temporal	.16
	2.11	Configure Excluded Tables and Interface Type	.17
3	Work	flow Overview	.18
4	Worł	dlows Steps – Test Mode	.19
	4.1	Running the Test Mode Interface	.19
	4.2	Comparison Report - Routes	.21
	4.3	Comparison Report - Events	.22
	4.4	Comparison Report - Concurrencies	.23
	4.5	Comparison Report - LRMs	.25
	4.6	Invalidity Report - Routes	.27
	4.7	Invalidity Report - Gaps	.27
	4.8	Invalidity Report - Concurrencies	.28
	4.9	Invalidity Report - LRMs	.30
5	Work	dlow Steps – Full Mode	.32
	5.1	Running the Full Mode Interface	.32
	5.1.1	Full Mode Report - Routes	.34
	5.1.2	Prull Mode Report - Events	.34
	5.1.3	B Full Mode Report - Concurrencies	.35



	5.1.4	Full Mode Report - LRMs	.35
6	Inter	face Log	.37
	6.1	Accessing the Interface Log	.37
	6.2	Interpreting the Interface Log	.37
7	Trou	bleshooting	.39
	7.1	Job Log	.39
	7.2	ArcGIS Server Manager	.39
	7.3	Troubleshooting Web Page	.41



# 1 Introduction

Location is an important aspect of an asset management system. In order to decide *how* to best spend limited transportation management funds, it is important to know *where* these funds are needed. That is why the maintenance of asset linear locations is so important.

Esri Roads and Highways is an example of the new breed of single-source linear referencing system (LRS) maintenance tools. That is, it is designed to update not only the road network but also the linear location of all assets and events associated with that network. The Roads and Highways system works by using the editor to make changes to the roadway network and the system automates the update of linear locations for assets and events. This is a powerful way to maintain locations because one single LRS edit can easily necessitate hundreds of asset location edits.

The interface described in this document uses the web services that Roads and Highways provides to maintain the linear locations within the AgileAssets system. That way, even though the AgileAssets system and Roads and Highways are separate, they work together to maintain these locations.

#### **1.1 Prerequisites**

The following items are required to run this interface:

- A working, licensed implementation of the AgileAssets system
- A working, licensed implementation of the AgileAssets Roads and Highways interface
- A working, licensed implementation of ArcMap
- A working, licensed implementation of Esri Roads and Highways (desktop version)
- A working, licensed implementation of ArcGIS Server
- A working, licensed implementation of Esri Roads and Highways (server version)
- Open communication between the systems being interfaced. This includes the following:
  - The ability to make a connection between tables in the AgileAssets Oracle schema and ArcCatalog. This is used to register the events-to-be-updated as external events to Roads and Highways and to create and operate the Relocate Events web services.
  - The ability of the AgileAssets system to call web services on the ArcGIS Server. This is to make calls to the Roads and Highways Export Network and Relocate Events web services.
  - The ability of the AgileAssets system to copy files from the ArcGIS Server.
     This is to copy the results of the Roads and Highways Export Network and Relocate Events web services.



- At the time that the system goes live, the LRS in AgileAssets, the asset locations in the AgileAssets system, and the LRS in Roads and Highways must be synchronized.
  - This means both the LRS data and the Linear Referencing Method (LRM) definitions must be compatible between the systems. Without the data synchronization, the data can become corrupted. Without the LRM synchronization, the interface may not function.
  - At the time the system goes live, the asset locations in the AgileAssets system must be synchronized with the LRS in the AgileAssets system. This means that all asset locations are locatable on the LRS and their locations are correct. If the asset locations are not synchronized, it may mean that either the LRS, the asset locations, or both are corrupted.



# 2 Configuration of the Interface between the Systems

The basics steps are:

- 1. Configure the interface on the AgileAssets system.
- 2. Configure LRMs on the AgileAssets system.
- 3. Make a connection between ArcCatalog and the AgileAssets system.
- 4. Register External Events with Roads and Highways.
- 5. Register the Roads & Highways database with ArcGIS Server.
- 6. Create the Roads and Highways Export Network web service.
- 7. Create the Roads and Highways Relocate Events web services.
- 8. Complete the interface configuration on the AgileAssets system.
- 9. Install native FGDB libraries
- 10. Make at least one event table temporal
- 11. Configure Excluded Tables and Interface Type

#### 2.1 Configure the Interface on the AgileAssets System

On most systems, the configuration page for this interface is located at System > LRS Mgmt. > Roads & Highways Interface > LRS Interface Setup. It is divided into three panes, Export Network Setup, Relocate Events Setup - Event Categories, and Relocate Events Setup - Member Tables.

System - Security		Settings <del>-</del>	Tools <del>-</del>	FDC -	LRS/GIS +	Interf	aces <del>-</del>	Projec	t Mgmt	Repo	ts <del>+</del>		*	- <	\$ ÷	0 =	PHIL
System > LRS/GIS > Roads &	Highways Interface :	> LRS Interface \$	Setup 🚖											🖹 Sa	ve Data	C Retr	ieve Data
Export Network Setup Actions	Ŧ															3	E 16.8
Export Network URL						Tim	e Zone	Syste	m ID	SRID	Execution Wait (s)	Exec	ution Time	out (s)	Do	wnload Time	out (s)
•						US	/Alaska 🔻	Agile	Asset: 👻	3338	5			72	00		1200
<< < 1 of 1 total rows >	»																
* Relocate Events Setup - Even	nt Categories Ac	tions 🔻															E 58
Base Events Table Name 🗠	Relocate Events U	RL (Points)		Relocat	e Events URL (Li	ines)			Default E	vent Table	P Execution Wait (s	s)	Execution	Timeo	1	Download Ti	meou
EVENTS_TO_BE_UPDATED												5			7200		1200
SPECIAL_EVENTS												5			7200		1200
4																	•
<< < 2 of 2 total rows>	**																
* Relocate Events Setup - Mem	Iber Tables Action	ns ¥															E 16.8
Source Table																	
SIGNAL_INVENTORY		-															
SUPPORT_INVENTORY		*															
<< < 2 of 2 total rows >	»																

Figure 1 AgileAssets LRS Interface Setup window

The **Export Network Setup** pane (top pane) configures the part of the interface that imports the LRS. Note that there is one and only one record for this pane. You can modify the following fields:

- Export Network URL This is the URL of the Roads and Highways Export Network web service. This can be left blank at this point in the configuration.
- Time Zone Set this to match the time zone configured in the Roads and Highways instance.



- System ID Pick the system associated with the base LRM being updated by the interface.
- SRID This number indicates the map projection used for the Network in Roads & Highways. A full list of these map projections is stored in the mdsys.cs\_srs table in Oracle.
- Execution Wait (s) Then number of seconds the system waits before checking job status of the web service job again. The standard is 5 seconds.
- Execution Timeout (s) The number of seconds the system will wait from when the web service job is submitted until the job is finished. The standard is 7200 seconds (2 hours).
- Download Timeout (s) The number of seconds the system waits for the download of the web service job results to complete. The standard is 1200 seconds (20 minutes).

The **Relocate Events Setup - Event Categories** pane (middle pane) configures different event categories and allows you to select which event tables belong to each category in the following pane. Categories can be configured for each different set of event behaviors that you want to employ for different event tables.

Note: To insert or delete a field in this pane, the database privileges assigned to the AgileAssets application must be set to allow the creation and deletion of tables.

The views created by this pane are the views that need to be registered with Roads and Highways and used in the creation of Relocate Events web services. You can insert records into this pane and modify the following fields:

- Base Events Table Name This is the base name of the two views created when a record is inserted in this pane. This base name will have "\_PTV" appended to it for point events and "\_LNV" appended to it for linear events.
- Relocate Events URL (Points) This is the URL of the Roads and Highways Relocate Events web service for the point events associated with this category. This can be left blank at this point in the configuration.
- Relocate Events URL (Lines) This is the URL of the Roads and Highways Relocate Events web service for the linear events associated with this category. This can be left blank at this point in the configuration because it is addressed in the <u>Complete Interface Configuration on the AgileAssets System</u> step.
- Default Event Table? By checking this option, it means that all event tables that are not specifically assigned to other categories will automatically be assigned to this category. There can be no more than one category with the default event table option checked. So, check this field if this is the default event category.
- Execution Wait (s) Then number of seconds the system waits before checking job status of the web service job again. The standard is 5 seconds.



- Execution Timeout (s) The number of seconds the system will wait from when the web service job is submitted until the job is finished. The standard is 7200 seconds (2 hours).
- Download Timeout (s) The number of seconds the system waits for the download of the web service job results to complete. The standard is 1200 seconds (20 minutes).

The **Relocate Events Setup - Member Tables** pane (bottom pane) configures which event tables are associated with each category in the Event Categories pane. The user first selects a category in the middle pane and then can enter the following field to be assigned to that category:

• Source Table – The user can insert from the pick list of event tables that they want associated with the selected event category. Each event table can be associated with at most one category. If the category chosen in the middle pane is the default category do not fill in any records in this field.

#### 2.2 Configure LRMs on the AgileAssets System

This step correlates the LRMs in the AgileAssets system with the Networks implemented in Esri Roads and Highways. To configure this, navigate to the LRM Setup page which, on most systems, is located at **System > LRS Mgmt. > Setup > Location Referencing Methods (LRMs)**. For each LRM in the LRSs pane identify the number assigned to it on the Roads and Highways system in the dLRSNetworks domain and enter that number in the Net\_LRM\_ID field in the AgileAssets LRM Setup window. (Note: The Net\_LRM\_ID field may not be visible in the top pane. You must open design mode to add this field and then make it visible and editable.)

¥	OASIS	System - S	ecurity 🗸 Util	ties - Settings -	Tools	FDC n	ngmt. 🔻	LRS M	ımt. 🗸 GIS	Mgmt.	<ul> <li>System Info.</li> </ul>	,	Project Mgmt. 🔻	Reports	٥.	0	🙎 PHIL 🔻
1	System >	LRS Mgmt. > Setup	> Location Refere	nce Methods (LRMs) 🧃	2									6	Save Data	C R	etrieve Data
1	LRSs Action	ns V															⊞ 23
	Basic LRS?	* LOC REF NAME	Attachm	ent Comments		User Update	Date	Jpdate Al	low route spann	ning?	NET LRM ID		Span Columns	Use b	asic LRM for	down th	e road
Þ		Countywide Route	es			PHIL	05/1	6/2016				2					
	¥.	Statewide Routes				PHIL	05/1	6/2016				1					
	<< < 1	of 2 total rows >	»														
	Columns A	Actions V															H 20
	Column ID	Column Label	COLUMN ID TO	COLUMN LABEL	* LRS co	olumn type	Hidd	Initial Va	Show 'To'?	Order	NET ORDER ID	NET	LOOKUP TABLE	NET LOOKU	P ID COLUM	N NE	T LOOKUI ^
•	WV_CO_RO	County/Route From	WV_CO_ROUTE	County/Route To	Location	n Attribute 👻					1 1	SET	UP_WV_CO_ROUT	WV_CO_RO	UTE_ID	WV	/_CO_RO
	LANE_DIR	Direction			Location	Across 👻			¥.		4						
	LANE_ID	Lane			Location	Across 👻	•				5						
	WV_CO_RO	BMP (County LRM)	WV_CO_ROUTE	EMP (County LRM)	Location	Measure 👻					6						
	PERPEN_OF	Offset			Location	Across 👻	•		¥.		8						
4	<< < 1	of 5 total rows >	**														- F

Figure 2 AgileAssets LRM Setup Window

Also, in cases where an LRM has more than one route identification field (marked as Location Attribute in the bottom screen) you may need to assign each of these fields a value in the Net\_Order\_ID field. This specifies the preferred order of the route identification



fields. [Note: The Net\_Order\_ID field may not be editable in the bottom pane. You may have to go into design mode to make it editable.]

## 2.3 Make a Connection between ArcCatalog and the AgileAssets System

In ArcCatalog, make a database connection to the Oracle instance underlying the AgileAssets implementation. The directions for creating an Oracle database connection can be found on the Esri website at <u>http://desktop.arcgis.com/en/arcmap/latest/manage-data/gdbs-in-oracle/connect-oracle.htm</u>.

Database Connection		<b>•••</b>
Database Platform:	Oracle	•
Instance:	agiledbp:1521/agiledbp	
Authentication Type:	Database authenticatio	n 🔻
	User name:	ams_WV_07_00_LRS
	Password:	•••••
	📝 Save user name and	l password
About Database Connections		OK Cancel

Figure 3 Esri Database Connection dialog box

#### 2.4 Register External Events with Roads and Highways

For each record entered into the **Relocate Events Setup - Event Categories** pane of the LRS Interface Setup window on the AgileAssets system, you will have two External event views that must be registered to the Advanced Linear Referencing System (ALRS). The names of the External Event views are created from the Base Events Table Name field of each record plus "\_PTV" appended to it for point events and "\_LNV" appended to it for linear events.

The directions for registering External events to Roads and Highways can be found on the Esri website (<u>http://desktop.arcgis.com/en/arcmap/latest/extensions/roads-and-highways/registering-an-external-event-source.htm</u>). Make sure to complete the following:

- Register the "\_PTV" events as point events and the "\_LNV" events as linear events.
- These event views should be registered as External events.
- Point events only need the MEASURE field assigned to its single measure.



Catalog	<del>д</del>	× 🔼	a 本	ALRS
← マ ⇔ 企 🔐 🗔 🏢 Location: 🎬 CountyLog	▼ <a>  <a>  <a>  <a>  <a>  <a>  <a>  <a> </a></a></a></a></a></a></a></a>	Edit Sketch	General event prop Select general event pr fields	erties operties, such as ge
	aries	h Properties 🚵 Cr	Event feature class: Event location: Geometry type:	EVENTS_TO_ External even
StateLog     Calibration_Poi     Centerline     Centerline_Seq	X Delete Rename C Refresh		Field mapping:	<ul> <li>Line event</li> </ul>
LKS Event	New	-	Field	Field Name
LRS Intersection Create a ne	w file or new data in the		Firent ID	
H current loca	tion in the Catalog. The	2	Deute ID	
H types listed	here depend on what		Route ID	ROUTE_ID
	Fropenies		From Measure	FROM_MEASURE
Lrs_Event_bena			To Measure	TO_MEASURE
Lrs Metadata			From Date	FROM_DATE
LRSE AADT			To Date	TO_DATE
LRSE_AADT_20	15			
ERSE_Access_C	ontrol			
CRSE_Attenuate	or			
LRSE_Bridge_Cl	earance			
LRSE_Bridge_Li	ne			
EKSE_Bridge_Po	DINT			

		EVENTS_TO_BE	UPE	ATED_LNV
Event location:		External event		
Geometry type:		O Point event		
		Line event		
Field manning:				
Field	Field	Name	_	Required Field Type
Event ID	EVEN	IT_ID	~	Text(>=32)
Daula ID	ROU	TE_ID	~	Text
Route ID			_	
From Measure	FRO	M_MEASURE	~	Double
From Measure	FRO	M_MEASURE	~	Double
From Measure To Measure From Date	FROI	M_MEASURE MEASURE M_DATE	× × ×	Double Double DateTime
From Measure To Measure From Date To Date	FRO	M_MEASURE MEASURE M_DATE DATE	<ul> <li></li> <li><td>Double Double DateTime DateTime</td></li></ul>	Double Double DateTime DateTime
From Measure To Measure From Date To Date	FROI	M_MEASURE MEASURE M_DATE DATE	× × ×	Double Double DateTime DateTime

Event Setur

x

Figure 4 Esri ALRS Event Setup dialog box

Note: The external events need to be registered to the Network that is checkmarked as the "Basic LRS" in Section 2.2.

## 2.5 Register the Roads & Highways database with ArcGIS Server

In almost all cases this step will have already been done, but it is listed here for completeness. However, the instructions for registration can be found on the Esri website (<u>http://server.arcgis.com/en/server/latest/publish-services/windows/registering-your-data-with-arcgis-server-using-manager.htm</u>).

#### 2.6 Create Roads and Highways Export Network Web Service

There are two main steps to creating the Export Network web service. First you must run the geoprocess, and then share the results of that geoprocess as a web service.

The directions for running the geoprocess and creating the web service can be found on the Esri website (<u>http://desktop.arcgis.com/en/arcmap/latest/extensions/roads-and-highways-server/deploying-network-export-tool-as-a-service.htm</u>).

- 1. In the **Export Network** dialog, select the base LRM of the AgileAssets system (as indicated by the Basic LRS check mark in Section 2.2).
- 2. When specifying the Output Export File make sure to include a full name with a directory path (e.g. C:\Temp\Export).



- 3. Select **FGDB** for output format.
- 4. Select the precision (number of digits to the right of the decimal point) that matches the precision of measures in the Setup\_Network\_Lines table in the AgileAssets system.
- 5. The LRM Translations value must be a comma-delimited list of the numbers that Roads and Highways assigns to the networks that correspond to any alternate LRMs in the AgileAssets system. These numbers are listed in the dLRSNetworks domain. And if there are no alternate LRMs that need to be handled via the Interface, then leave the LRM Translations field blank.
- 6. Leave the following fields blank: Last Invoked Time, LRS Time, Last LRS Time, and Output Spatial Reference WKID.

🔨 Export Network	
Network Layer	^
State_Milepoint	- 🖻
Output Export File	
c:\output	<b>2</b>
Last Invoked Time (optional)	
LRS Time (optional)	
Last LRS Time (optional)	
Output Format (optional)	
FGDB	•
Output Spatial Reference WKID (optional)	
Precision (ontional)	
	3
LRM Translations (optional)	
1	
OK Cancel Environments	Show Help >>

Figure 5 Esri Export Network dialog box

#### 2.7 Create Roads and Highways Relocate Events Web Services

Create a Relocate Events web service for each External event registered in the <u>Register</u> <u>External Events with Roads and Highways</u> step. There are two main steps to creating a Relocate Events web service. First, you must run the geoprocess, and then share the results of that geoprocess as a web service. Both steps must be run for each registered External event.

The directions for running the geoprocess and creating the web service can be found on the Esri website at <u>http://desktop.arcgis.com/en/arcmap/latest/extensions/roads-and-highways-server/deploying-relocate-event-tool-as-a-service.htm</u>. Enter the network that corresponds to the base LRM in the AgileAssets system into the Network Layer. Select the Event Name for the external event associated with this iteration. Select CSV for the output format. And when specifying the Output Export File make sure to include a full name with a directory path (e.g. C:\Temp\Rel\_Events\_Pt).



Suggestion: when creating the web service and using the **Service Editor** dialog, under **Parameters** you may want to pick a Message Level of "Info" as this provides more meaningful error messages.

🔨 Relocate Events	- • ×
Network Layer	^
State_Milepoint	- 🖻
Event Name	
DEFAULT_EVENTS_LN	-
Last Invoked Time (optional)	
LRS Time (optional)	
Last LRS Time (optional)	
Output Format (optional)	
CSV	-
Output Export File (optional)	
c:\output\default_events_ln.csv	
Output Feature Class (optional)	
Include Event Geometry (optional)	Ψ.
OK Cancel Environments	Show Help >>

Figure 6 Esri Relocate Events dialog box

## 2.8 Complete Interface Configuration on the AgileAssets System

On the AgileAssets system, return to the LRS Interface Setup window which on most systems is at **System > LRS Mgmt. > Roads & Highways Interface > LRS Interface Setup**. Use the following instructions to fill in the URLs that were left empty in an earlier step.

	System - Security	· → Utilities →	Settings <del>+</del>	Tools <del>+</del>	FDC+	LRS/GIS+	Interfaces -	Projec	t Mgmt	Repor	ts∓	*	- ¢ -	0	e PH	łIL≁
1	System > LRS/GIS > Roads &	Highways Interface	> LRS Interface \$	Setup 🖕									🖹 Save D	ata C Ret	rieve C	Data
E	Export Network Setup Actions	· •												:	= 2	8
. П	Export Network URL						Time Zone	Syste	m ID	SRID	Execution Wait (s)	Execution Time	out (s) I	Download Tim	eout (	s)
Þ	https://dwarcv5.agileassets.com:64	443/arcgis/rest/servi	ces/AkDOT_Dem	o/ExportNetwo	ork/GPServ	er/Export%20Netw	vo US/Alaska 🔻	Agile	Asset: 👻	3338	5		7200		1	200
	<< < 1 of 1 total rows >	~														
*	Relocate Events Setup - Ever	nt Categories Ad	ations 🔻												= 5	2
	Base Events Table Name 🗠	Relocate Events L	JRL (Points)		Relocate	Events URL (Lin	ies)		Default E	Event Table?	Execution Wait (s	) Execution	Timeo	Download T	Fimeou	
	EVENTS_TO_BE_UPDATED	https://dwarcv5.agi	leassets.com:644	43/arcgis/rest/s	e https://dv	varcv5.agileassets	.com:6443/arcgis/r	est/ser				5	720	D	1	1200
Þ	SPECIAL_EVENTS	https://dwarcv5.agi	leassets.com:644	43/arcgis/rest/s	https://dv	varcv5.agileassets	s.com:6443/arcgis/i	rest/ser				5	7200	D	1	1200
4	(															•
	<< < 2 of 2 total rows >	**														
*	Relocate Events Setup - Mem	ber Tables Actio	uns ¥											:	= 5	31
	Source Table															
	SIGNAL_INVENTORY		-													
Þ	SUPPORT_INVENTORY		-													
	<< < 2 of 2 total rows>	>>														_

Figure 7 AgileAssets LRS Interface Setup window

In the Export Network URL field on the top pane, enter the URL associated with the Export Network web service that you created. To find the URL to enter here, do the following:



- In a separate browser page, visit the ArcGIS Server Manager website for this instance.
- Inside ArcGIS Server Manager, go to Services > Manage Services.
- On this page, choose the folder where you placed the web service, and then click the **Export Network** web service (or whatever you named your service in the <u>Create Roads and Highways Export Network Web Service</u> step).
- Click Capabilities on the left-hand panel.
- Click the URL next to the phrase "Rest URL".
- Click the phrase Export Network under the heading Tasks.
- Copy the URL from the address bar of the browser and paste it into the **Export Network URL** field of the LRS Interface Setup page.



Figure 8 Esri Manage Services Web Page in ArcGIS Server

In the **Relocate Events URL (Points)** field and in the **Relocate Events URL (Lines)** field on the middle pane, enter the URL associated with the Relocated web services that you created for each of these event categories. To find the URL to enter here, do the following for each event category:

- In a separate browser page, open the ArcGIS Server Manager website for this instance.
- Inside ArcGIS Server Manager, go to Services > Manage Services.
- On the new page, choose the folder where you placed the web service, and then click the **Relocate Events** web service you are working on.
- Click Capabilities on the left panel.



- Click the URL next to the phrase Rest URL.
- Click the phrase Relocate Events under the heading Tasks.
- Copy the URL from the address bar of the browser and paste it into the appropriate **Relocate Events URL** field of the LRS Interface Setup page.

#### 2.9 Install native FGDB libraries

One of the outputs of ESRI's Roads & Highways web services is an ESRI File GeoDatabase (FGDB). In order for our system to be able to read ESRI File GeoDatabases, native libraries must be installed.

For Linux-based servers, these libraries are named:

- libfgdbunixrtl.so This library is written and provided by ESRI, as part of the File GeoDatabase API, v. 1.4.
- libFileGDBAPI.so This library is written and provided by ESRI, as part of the File GeoDatabase API, v. 1.4.
- libcore.so This library is written and provided by AgileAssets and depends on the other libraries provided by ESRI.

For Windows-based servers, these libraries are named:

- Esri.FileGDBAPI.dll This library is written and provided by ESRI, as part of the File GeoDatabase API, v. 1.4.
- FileGDBAPID.dll This library is written and provided by ESRI, as part of the File GeoDatabase API, v. 1.4.
- FileGDBAPI.dll This library is written and provided by ESRI, as part of the File GeoDatabase API, v. 1.4.
- core.dll This library is written and provided by AgileAssets and depends on the other libraries provided by ESRI.

The implementation steps are as follows:

- 1. Obtain the AgileAssets libraries. The choice of AgileAssets libraries are provided above. Contact AgileAssets support and provide them with operating system details of your server.
- 2. Obtain the ESRI libraries. The Esri libraries are provided on Esri's download page.
  - Go to <u>http://www.esri.com/apps/products/download/index.cfm?fuseaction=#File\_Geo</u> <u>database\_API\_1.4</u>
  - Download the appropriate package for the required operating system.



- Unpack the package.
- Find the required libraries in the FileGDB\_API/lib directory.
- 3. Install the libraries. Create a directory on the application server and put all required libraries (from both Esri and AgileAssets) in that directory. Make note of the directory name. For the examples below we used /usr/local/tomcat/geo\_libs.
- 4. Create a script that lets the application server know the whereabouts of these libraries. Replace "/usr/local/tomcat/geo\_libs" in the directions below with the location of your libraries as appropriate.

For Linux:

- If a file named setenv.sh does not exist in the Tomcat bin directory, then create it and make it executable.
- For Linux, add ONE of these lines to setenv.sh:
  - For versions of Java below 7 and if LD\_LIBRARY\_PATH is already set on the system:
    - > LD\_LIBRARY\_PATH=\$LD\_LIBRARY\_PATH:/usr/local/tomcat/geo\_libs
  - For versions of Java below 7 and if LD\_LIBRARY\_PATH is not already set on the system:
    - > LD\_LIBRARY\_PATH=/usr/local/tomcat/geo\_libs
  - For Java 7 and above, the LD\_LIBRARY\_PATH needs to be exported and set this way:
    - > export LD\_LIBRARY\_PATH="/usr/local/tomcat/geo\_libs"
    - > export LD\_LIBRARY\_PATH=/usr/local/lib:\${LD\_LIBRARY\_PATH}
    - > JAVA\_OPTS="-Djava.library.path=/usr/local/tomcat/geo\_libs"

For Windows:

- If a file named setenv.bat does not exist in the Tomcat bin directory, then create it and make it executable.
- Add this line to setenv.bat:
  - > Set PATH = %PATH%;\usr\local\tomcat\geo\_libs
- 5. Restart Tomcat.

#### 2.10 Make at least one event table temporal

Because Roads and Highways keeps track of the dates associated with each edit the AgileAssets side of the interface needs to have fields to store this data. Those fields are created when at least one linearly-referenced table is set to "Keep Change History".



* Tables Colu	tilities > Database / Syster	n Management > Tables	☆ 							Save Data C Ret	rieve
Actions ▼										:=	16.3 12 N
lum. of Atta	Max. Image. Height	Max. Image. Width	Table Type	XY Coor. Ref. Sys.	Comments	Attachment	Date	User U	Keep change history	Supports Staged Editing	,
			General	-			02/06/20	SAM			
			General	-	Equipment Day Cards ?Numbe		03/06/20	SAM			
			General	-	Labor Day Cards – Details like		04/28/20	ERICK	0		
			General	-	Stores all Locations/Assets link		05/16/20	PHIL	✓		
			General	-			09/13/20	ERICK	Delete		П
			General	-	Stores all Work Requests in the		10/27/20	CHARLES	Make Window		
			General	•			03/04/20	ABDUS	Apply Change Refresh From	S Datahase	
			General	-			07/21/20	HIMANSH.	Import Table D	lata	
			General	-			07/21/20	HIMANSH.	Sort		
			General	-			10/20/20	HIMANSH.	Filter By This \	/alue	
			General	-			05/10/20	TRAVIS	Filter	chmonte	
			General	-			04/30/20	SAM	Export Data		1
					1	1	1	1	Clipboard Win	dow	
<< < 1324	of 1368 total rows > >>								Clipboard All	vindows	

#### Figure 9 AgileAssets Tables window

The steps to make a table temporal are as follows:

- 1. Go to **System > Utilities > Database/System Management > Tables** (or wherever this window is on your implementation.
- 2. Find a linearly-referenced table (one that has route and measures) and select its row in the table.
- 3. Scroll to the far right of the window and place a check mark in the **Keep Change History** checkbox.
- 4. Right-click the row to bring up the context menu and select Apply Changes.
- A dialog may appear asking you to give a beginning birth date for your existing records in this table. By default it is 1/1/1900. Give it a date of your choosing and click **OK**.
- 6. Next a dialog will appear asking if it is OK to process the script needed to make the table temporal. Click **OK**. This process will likely take several minutes depending on the number of records in the table.
- 7. After the script completes click the **Save Data** button and this task is complete.

#### 2.11 Configure Excluded Tables and Interface Type

An AgileAssets support person will work with you to make sure that the proper settings are made for tables to be excluded from the interface job and that your system is set to use the Roads & Highways Interface type.



# 3 Workflow Overview

The suggested workflow is shown in the following diagram. The top row of the diagram is what takes place inside Roads and Highways. The bottom half is what takes place inside the AgileAssets system.



Figure 10 AgileAsset-Roads and Highways LRS Interface Workflow

Notice in the bottom half that there is both a Test Interface and a Full Interface. The Test Interface makes the calls to the Roads and Highways web services and loads the results into buffer tables that are separate from the rest of the AgileAssets system. This allows you to compare current locations with proposed locations prior to committing the change. If, during this review, you notice unintended changes then this comparison review will allow you to alert the LRS editors to a potential problem and allows them to make corrections. Once you are satisfied with the results of the review, the Full Interface can be run. The Full Interface run updates both the LRS and asset locations on the AgileAssets system.



# 4 Workflows Steps – Test Mode

#### 4.1 Running the Test Mode Interface

To start the Test Interface, go to **System > Tools > System Job > Schedules**. Then scroll down and select **Roads & Highways Interface – Test Mode**. Right-click and select **Run Job**.

WOASIS System - Security - U	Jtilities • Settings •	Tools 🛛	FDC mgmt. + LRS Mg	mt. 🗸	GIS M	gmt. • System Info. •	Project Mgmt.	τ Replyrtsτr 🔅 τ	❷ 💄 PHIL 😽
System > Tools > System Job > Schedules	7							E Save Data	C Retrieve Data
Jobs Log									
Schedules Actions ¥	:=	- 25	Executables Actions *						II 20
* SYSTEM JOB NAME	△ CRON EXPRESSION	Coi 🔺	* System Job Executable		* Order 🗅	Arguments		Comments	Attachment
Roads & Highways Interface Full Mode			Run DB Procedure	-	10	PROC_FILL_DATA_YEAR_I	NULLS		
Roads & Highways Interface Test Mode	Insert Schedule		Run DB Procedure	-	20	NET_EXT_REFRESH_BEFO	DRE		
Run DB Procedure	Delete Schedule		Roads/Highways Interface	*	30				
Run Equipment Odometer Update (Pay Period)	Run Job Set Schedule		Run DB Procedure	*	40	NET_EXT_RH_CHECK_RO	UTES		
Run Equipment Odometer Update Job	Sort		Run DB Procedure		50	NET_EXT_RH_CHECK_GA	PS		
Run Import Configuration	Find Work With Attachments		Run DB Procedure		60	NET_EXT_RH_CHECK_CO	NCURRENCY		
Run Import Configuration - WV System Job	Export Data		Run DB Procedure		70	NET_EXT_RH_CHECK_LR	MS		
Run Import Configuration Archive	Clipboard Windows		Run DB Procedure		80	NET_EXT_RH_CHECK_EV	ENTS		
Run Today PM Job	0 0 1/4 ? * 1-7 *		Run DB Procedure		90	NET_EXT_RH_QC			
Run Today PM Job Fleet			Run DB Procedure	+	100	NET_EXT_RH_ADD_INVAL	ID_LRMS		
Safety-Calculate Diagnosis Norm Tables									
Salvage Yard License (Run once an year)									
			4	_					
<< < 113 of 146 total rows > >>			<< < 1 of 10 total rov	vs > >>					

Figure 11 AgileAssets System Job Schedule Window

The time to run the job may vary significantly, but a range of 15 to 40 minutes is typical. You can either keep the window open to see status messages or hide the window and continue using the system for other purposes. If you choose to hide the window, you will see a message via the system when the job is complete. If you keep **Roads & Highways Interface – Test Mode** selected and click the **Log** tab, you will see the messages produced by the job.



System - Security -	Utilities 🗸	Settings +	Tools •	FDC mgmt. +	LRS Mgmt. +	GIS Mg	mt. 🗸	System Info. 🔹	Project Mgmt. 🗸	Replyrts <del>yr</del> 🔅	⊧ <b>• 0</b>	2 PHIL 🔻				
System > Reports > Reports 🏠										🖹 Sav	ve Data C Re	etrieve Data				
Reports- Tree View Actions *	5.7 2.5	Reports Action	15 🔻									E 53				
🖃 🔲 🗀 Reports	Show Rep	ort	1		On Dashboard	Public?	Shared	Comments	Right To See	Date Update	User Update	Report *				
📄 🗀 My Reports	Setup/Sho	w Report	port dows - List and Attributes			1			6 - Super 💌	02/10/2014	BHARGAVAAB	1 BHARG				
🖃 🔲 🗀 Public	Schedule	report to be emailed	ort - LRMs			4			3 - Read / W 🔻	03/28/2016	SYSTEM	SYSTE				
💽 📄 🗀 Application Administration	Eind	, E	Routes			<b>a</b>			2 Road /M -	02/29/2016	OVOTEM	OVOTE				
📧 📄 🗀 Database Administration	Select This	3	Routes			œ.			3 - Reau / W +	03/20/2010	STOTEM	STOLE				
O PMO - Implementation	Select All		Gaps			1			3 - Read / W 🔻	03/28/2016	SYSTEM	SYSTE				
Constant Angle Angl	Select Visi	elect Visible Items int eselect This	Concurren	ncies		1			3 - Read / W 👻	03/28/2016	SYSTEM	SYSTE				
A) lest Mode	Print		- LRMs			<b>A</b>			3 - Read / W 👻	03/28/2016	SYSTEM	SYSTE				
Comparison Report - Events	Deselect A	di	t - Concurre	ncies		1			3 - Read / W 👻	03/28/2016	SYSTEM	SYSTE				
🔲 🧮 Comparison Report - LRMs	Deselect Vi Set Bookm	Deselect Vi Set Bookm	Deselect V Set Bookm	Deselect V Set Bookm	Deselect V	sible Items ark Location	- Events			Ø			3 - Read / W 💌	03/28/2016	SYSTEM	SYSTE
Comparison Report - Route	s	Full Mode Report	rt - Routes			<b>a</b>			3 - Read / W 💌	03/28/2016	SYSTEM	SYSTE				
Invalidity Report - Concurren	cies	Cull Made Dara				-			2. Decid (1)	02000040	OVOTEN	OVOTE				
Invalidity Report - Gaps		Full Mode Repor	IL- ERIVIS			æ			3 - Read / W ¥	03/28/2010	STSTEM	STOLE				
invalidity Report - Routes		Comparison Rep	port - Events			<ul><li>✓</li></ul>			3 - Read / W 👻	03/28/2016	SYSTEM	SYSTE				
Invalidity Reports - LRMs     D Full Mode		Comparison Rep	port - Routes	3		1			3 - Read / V 👻	03/28/2016	SYSTEM	SYSTE				
💽 🧰 Security				rrencies		1			3 - Read / W 👻	03/28/2016	SYSTEM	SYSTE				
🔲 🗀 Shared												Ψ.				
		4										) F				
		<< < 69	of 70 total r	rows> >>												

Figure 12 AgileAssets Reports Window

When the job is complete, you can review the comparison reports by going to **System > Reports > Reports**. Then, in the left pane find **Reports > Public > Roads & Highways Interface > A) Test Mode** to see list of comparison and invalidity reports. Right-click on a report and select **Show Report**. This will display a new browser page with the report. The report can then be downloaded in various formats.

Compariso	on Report - Ro ,	outes			
Comparison Rep	ort - Routes			Download	CSV
05/18/2015 10:26:39			1 2 >>> (2 Pages) F	lows per page:	CSV
Route Name	Current: LRS Description	Buffer: LRS Description	Error Text	Status	XLS
1006400-MLWB07	Extents: 0/.45	Extents: 0/.45	This route has no geometry	Error	
1007700-180026132	Extents: 0/.01	Extents: 0/.01	This route has no geometry	Error	XLSX
2001900-41NB14	Extents: 0/2.7	Extents: 0/2.7	This route has no geometry	Error	HTML
2003500-27SB05	Extents: 0/.48	Extents: 0/.48	This route has no geometry	Error	VAN
2005200-06NB04	Extents: 0/.46	Extents: 0/.46	This route has no geometry	Error	XIVIL
2005200-MLNB00	Extents: 0/1.3	Extents: 0/1.3	This route has no geometry	Error	
2011900-20SB05058BD	Extents: 0/.19	Extents: 0/.19	This route has no geometry	Error	
3000300-41EB06	Extents: 0/.1	Extents: 0/.1	This route has no geometry	Error	
3000300-45SB05	Extents: 0/1.08	Extents: 0/1.08	This route has no geometry	Error	7

Figure 13 Comparison Report for Routes

There are eight test mode reports, and they are described below. The criteria to evaluate the results in these reports is up to the user. A general criteria of a successful test mode run is as follows:

- No event location edits are made that are not wanted.
- No LRS edits are made that are not wanted.
- No errors show up in the job log.



- No errors show up in the test mode reports.
- No rows show up in the invalidity reports.
- ٠

It is recommended to not to run the Full Mode Interface if the test mode run is not successful.

#### 4.2 Comparison Report - Routes

The **Comparison Report - Routes** report is used to display a comparison of the routes in the system as it was just prior to running the interface compared to the contents of the buffer tables loaded by the interface run. This is primarily used with Test Mode interface runs so that the changes that would be made by a Full Mode interface run can be evaluated.

Each changed route is displayed in a single row. Each row contains the following five fields:

- 1. **Route Name** This is the name of the route described by this line.
- Current: LRS Description This is a concise description of the route as it was just prior to running the interface system job. It shows the extents of the route (the beginning and ending measures) plus any gaps in the route. This field will be empty if the route in question did not exist prior to running the interface job.
- Buffer: LRS Description This is a concise description of the route as it exists in the buffer table that was loaded by the interface system job. It shows the extents of the route (the beginning and ending measures) plus any gaps in the route. This field will be empty if the route in question does not exist after running the interface job.
- 4. **Error Text** This field shows a description of any errors that were found in this route after the interface system job was run. The possible values for this field and their meanings are:
  - The System ID of this route is null System ID is a key field that should never be null
  - The route name of this route is null Route name is a key field that should never be null
  - The start measure of this route is null Start measure is a key field that should never be null
  - The end measure of this route is null End measure is a key field that should never be null
  - The start measure of this route is greater than the end measure Measures should always go from lower values to higher values
  - This route has no geometry Null geometry removes the ability to display this route and its related events on maps within the AgileAssets system, but other functions will work as designed



- Duplicate Route This indicates more than one route with the same name and this is not allowed
- 5. Status This field shows the word "Change" if the values on the Current LRS fields differ from the values of the LRS Buffer fields. This field shows the word "Error" if the route did not change but exhibits an error. Otherwise this field is blank. By default, a filter is applied based on this field to show only rows where this field is not null.

#### 4.3 Comparison Report - Events

The **Comparison Report - Events** report is used to display a comparison of the events in the system as it was just prior to running the interface compared to the contents of the buffer tables loaded by the interface run. This is primarily used with Test Mode interface runs so that the changes that would be made by a Full Mode interface run can be evaluated. Only changed events are shown in this report.

Each changed event is displayed. Each row contains 12 fields:

- 1. **Source Table Name** This is the type of event this row represents. You can sort, or filter based on this field.
- 2. Data Year This field displays year data if it is available.
- 3. Location ID This is the identifier for the location of this event.
- 4. **Current: Route Name** This is the name of the route associated with this event as it was just prior to running the interface.
- 5. **Current: From Measure** This is the beginning measure of the event as it was just prior to running the interface.
- 6. **Current: To Measure** This is the end measure of the event as it was just prior to running the interface. For point events, this is the same as the Current LRS: From Measure field.
- 7. **Split Count** For events that get split into multiple rows, this numbers the individual pieces.
- 8. **Buffer: Route Name** This is the name of the route associated with this event as it exists in the buffer table that was loaded by the interface.
- 9. **Buffer: From Measure** This is the beginning measure of the event as it exists in the buffer table that was loaded by the interface. For point events, this is the same as the LRS Buffer: From Measure field.
- 10. **Buffer: To Measure** This is the end measure of the event as it exists in the buffer table that was loaded by the interface.
- 11. Delete Flag This field indicates if an event is deleted. Otherwise it is blank.
- Error Text This displays any errors that were detected when locating the changed version of the event compared to the changed version of the LRS. The possible values for this field and their meanings are:



- The start of this event (*<event start>*) occurs before the start of the route (*<route start>*) – Event measures that do not land on the route are not allowed
- The end of this event (<event end>) occurs after the end of the route (<route end>) – Event measures that do not land on the route are not allowed
- The event (<*event start*>/<*event end*>) overlaps a gap (<*gap start*>/<*gap end*>) Event measures that do not land on the route are not allowed
- The event (<event start>/<event end>) overlaps a subordinate section (<concurrency start>/<concurrency end>) – Events are not allowed on subordinate routes
- The start measure of this event is null Start measure is a key field that should never be null
- The end measure of this event is null End measure is a key field that should never be null
- The route name of this event is null Route name is a key field that should never be null
- The effective date of this event is null Effective date is a key field that should never be null
- The begin measure is greater than the end measure Measures should always go from lower values to higher values
- This event is not present in SETUP\_LOC\_IDENT The event that is attempting to be updated does not exist in the current AgileAssets system
- The event (<event start>/<event end>) overlaps another event with the same loc\_ident (<event start>/<event end>) – Two or more event records may have the same loc\_ident value in the case of split events, but the pieces of that split should never overlap

#### 4.4 Comparison Report - Concurrencies

The **Comparison Report - Concurrencies** report is used to display a comparison of the concurrencies in the system as it was just prior to running the interface compared to the contents of the buffer tables loaded by the interface run. This is primarily used with Test Mode interface runs so that the changes that would be made by a Full Mode interface run can be evaluated.

Each changed Dominant/Subordinate route combination that contains concurrencies is displayed in a single row. Each row contains six fields:

- 1. **Dominant Route Name** This is the name of the dominant route referred to by this row.
- 2. **Subordinate Route Name** This is the name of the subordinate route referred to by this row.



- 3. **Current: Concurrencies** This field shows the ranges of measures on the dominant route that corresponds to a range of measures of the subordinate route as it was just prior to running the interface. If the measures in the dominant range go from a greater measure to a lower measure, this means that the subordinate route increases measures in the opposite direction compared to the dominant route.
- 4. Buffer: Concurrencies This field shows the ranges of measures on the dominant route that corresponds to a range of measures of the subordinate route as it exists in the buffer table that was loaded by the interface. If the measures in the dominant range go from a greater measure to a lower measure, this means the subordinate route increases measures in the opposite direction compared to the dominant route.
- Error Text This displays any errors that were detected when locating the changed version of the concurrency against the changed version of the LRS. The possible values for this field and their meanings are:
  - This concurrency (Dom side) does not occur on a route Concurrencies must occur on a route
  - The start of this concurrency (Dom side) (<concurrency start>) occurs before the start of the route (<route start>) – Concurrencies must occur on a route
  - The end of this concurrency (Dom side) (<concurrency end>) occurs after the end of the route (<route end>) Concurrencies must occur on a route
  - The concurrency (Dom side) (<concurrency start>/<concurrency end>) overlaps a gap (<gap start>/<gap end>) – Concurrencies must occur on a route
  - The start and end measures of this concurrency (Dom side) are the same this indicates a point concurrency which is meaningless
  - The Dom start measure of this concurrency is null Start measure is a key field that should never be null
  - The Dom end measure of this concurrency is null End measure is a key field that should never be null
  - The Dom route name of this concurrency is null Route name is a key field that should never be null
  - This concurrency (Sub side) does not occur on a route Concurrencies must occur on a route
  - The start of this concurrency (Sub side) (<concurrency start>) occurs before the start of the route (<route start>) – Concurrencies must occur on a route
  - The end of this concurrency (Sub side) (<concurrency end>) occurs after the end of the route (<route end>) Concurrencies must occur on a route
  - The concurrency (Sub side) (<concurrency start>/<concurrency end>) overlaps a gap (<gap start>/<gap end>) – Concurrencies must occur on a route



- The start and end measures of this concurrency (Sub side) are the same

   this indicates a point concurrency which is meaningless
- The Sub start measure of this concurrency is null Start measure is a key field that should never be null
- The Sub end measure of this concurrency is null End measure is a key field that should never be null
- The Sub route name of this concurrency is null Route name is a key field that should never be null
- The start measure of this concurrency (Sub side) is greater than the end measure – Measures for the subordinate side should always go from lower values to higher values; on the Dom side when measures go from higher to lower it indicates that the 2 sides of the concurrency have opposite directions of increasing measures
- This concurrency (Sub side) overlaps another concurrency (<route name>|<concurrency start>/<concurrency end>) – Subordinate concurrency sections should never overlap as this would indicate that more than one route is dominant for a given section
- The measure ranges differ by <measure difference> As both sides of a concurrency record represent the same section of road, it is expected that both sides will have the same length; this indicates an issue with calibration
- 6. Status This field shows the word "Change" if the values on the Current LRS fields differ from the values of the LRS Buffer fields. This field shows the word "Error" if the route did not change but exhibits an error. Otherwise this field is blank. By default, a filter is applied based on this field to show only rows where this field is not null.

## 4.5 Comparison Report - LRMs

The **Comparison Report - LRMs** report is used to display a comparison of the LRMs in the system as it was just prior to running the interface compared to the contents of the buffer tables loaded by the interface run. This is primarily used with Test Mode interface runs so that the changes that would be made by a Full Mode interface run can be evaluated.

Each changed Base LRM route/Alternate LRM route combination that contains alternate LRMs is displayed in a single row. Each row contains seven fields:

- Alternate LRM Name This is the name of the alternate LRM referred to by this row. There may be multiple Linear Referencing Methods configured in a system. This field indicates which one is covered in each line.
- 2. **Base Route Name** This is the name of the base LRM route referred to by this line.
- 3. Alt Route Name This is the name of the alternate LRM route referred to by this line.



- 4. **Current: LRM Measures** This field shows the ranges of measures on the base LRM route that corresponds to a range of measures of the alternate LRM route as it was just prior to running the interface.
- 5. **Buffer: LRM Measures** This field shows the ranges of measures on the base LRM route that corresponds to a range of measures of the alternate LRM route as it exists in the buffer table that was loaded by the interface.
- Error Text This displays any errors that were detected in trying to locate the changed version of the LRM against the changed version of the LRS. The possible values for this field and their meanings are:
  - This LRM does not occur on one of the new routes LRM sections must occur on a route
  - The start of this LRM (<*LRM start*>) occurs before the start of the route (<*route start*>) – LRM sections must occur on a route
  - The end of this LRM (*<LRM end>*) occurs after the end of the route (*<route end>*) LRM sections must occur on a route
  - The LRM (<*LRM start*>/<*LRM end*>) overlaps a gap (<*gap start*>/<*gap end*>) LRM sections must occur on a route
  - The LRM (<LRM start>/<LRM end>) overlaps a subordinate section (<concurrency start>/<concurrency end>) – LRM sections must occur on a route
  - The start measure of this LRM is greater than the end measure Measures should always go from lower values to higher values
  - The start measure of this LRM is null Start measure is a key field that should never be null
  - The end measure of this LRM is null End Measure is a key field that should never be null
  - The route name of this LRM is null Route name is a key field that should never be null
  - This LRM (<LRM route name>|<LRM start>/<LRM end>) overlaps this LRM (<LRM route name>|<LRM start>/<LRM end>) – LRM sections should never overlap as this would indicate that the same alternate LRM section is assigned to more than one base route location
  - The measure ranges differ by *<measure difference>* As both sides of an LRM record represent the same section of road, it is expected that both sides will have the same length; this indicates an issue with calibration
- 6. Status This field shows the word "Change" if the values on the Current LRS fields differ from the values of the LRS Buffer fields. This field shows the word "Error" if the route did not change but exhibits an error. Otherwise this field is blank. By default, a filter is applied based on this field to show only rows where this field is not null.



## 4.6 Invalidity Report - Routes

The **Invalidity Report - Routes** report is used to display routes that came through the interface to the buffer tables that do not meet the minimum quality requirements to be added to the AgileAssets system. If the full mode Interface is run, these routes will not be included in the new LRS. It is recommended that if any rows appear in this table when the interface is run in Test mode, that you do not run Full mode until this problem is corrected in Roads and Highways.

Each invalid route is displayed in a single row. Each row contains nine fields:

- 1. **Object ID** This is the unique record identifier supplied by the Roads and Highways Export Network web service.
- Network ID This is the identifier that Roads and Highways uses to identify the Network (LRM) associated with this route. All of these rows should be associated with the base LRM.
- 3. Route ID This is the route name.
- 4. **Start Measure** This is the beginning measure of the route.
- 5. End Measure This is the end measure of the route.
- 6. Start Date This is the date that this version of the route was created.
- 7. **End Date** This is the retirement date of this version of the route. If this value is null, this version is still active.
- 8. **Shape Length** This is the length of the route.
- Reason(s) for being marked Invalid This is the reason or reasons that this route is marked as invalid. The possible values for this field and their meanings are:
  - REQUIRED\_FIELD\_NULL This means a key field has a null value
  - START\_MEASURE\_GREATER\_THAN\_END\_MEASURE This means the start measure of the route is greater than or equal to the end measure
  - END\_DATE\_NOT\_AFTER\_START\_DATE This means the start date of this record is greater than or equal to the end date

#### 4.7 Invalidity Report - Gaps

The **Invalidity Report - Gaps** report is used to display gaps that came through the interface to the buffer tables that do not meet the minimum quality requirements to be added to the AgileAssets system. If the full mode Interface is run, these routes will not be included in the new LRS. It is recommended that if any rows appear in this table when the interface is run in Test mode, that you do not run Full mode until this problem is corrected in Roads and Highways.

Each invalid gap is displayed in a single row. Each row contains eight fields:

 Object ID – This is the unique record identifier supplied by the Roads and Highways Export Network web service.



- 2. **Route ID** This is the name of the route on which the gap resides.
- 3. **Gap Start Measure** This is the beginning measure of the gap.
- 4. **Gap End Measure** This is the end measure of the gap.
- 5. **Gap Type** The gap type is shown as a number where: 0 = a measure gap, 1 = a physical gap, or 2 = both.
- 6. Start Date This is the date that this version of the gap was created.
- 7. **End Date** This is the retirement date of this version of the gap. If this value is null, this version is still active.
- Reason(s) for being marked Invalid This reports the reason or reasons that this gap is marked as invalid. The possible values for this field and their meanings are:
  - REQUIRED\_FIELD\_NULL This means a key field has a null value
  - START\_MEASURE\_GREATER\_THAN\_END\_MEASURE This means the start measure of the gap record is greater than or equal to the end measure
  - STARTS\_BEFORE\_ROUTE This means the start measure of this gap was before the start measure of the entire route
  - ENDS\_AFTER\_ROUTE This means the end measure of this gap was after the end measure of the entire route
  - UNKNOWN\_ROUTE This means this gap is associated with a route that is not in the system
  - OVERLAPS\_A\_GAP This means this gap overlaps another gap.

#### 4.8 Invalidity Report - Concurrencies

The **Invalidity Report - Concurrencies** report is used to display concurrencies that came through the interface to the buffer tables that do not meet the minimum quality requirements to be added to the AgileAssets system. If the full mode Interface is run, these routes will not be included in the new LRS. It is recommended that if any rows appear in this table when the interface is run in Test mode, that you do not run Full mode until this problem is corrected in Roads and Highways.

Each invalid concurrency is displayed in a single row. Each row contains 10 fields:

- 1. **Object ID** This is the unique record identifier supplied by the Roads and Highways Export Network web service.
- 2. **Dominant Route ID** This is the name of the dominant route associated with the concurrency.
- 3. **Dominant Start Measure** This is the beginning measure of the concurrency on the dominant route.
- 4. **Dominant End Measure** This is the end measure of the concurrency on the dominant route.



- 5. **Subordinate Route ID** This is the name of the subordinate route associated with the concurrency.
- 6. **Subordinate Start Measure** This is the beginning measure of the concurrency on the subordinate route.
- 7. **Subordinate End Measure** This is the end measure of the concurrency on the subordinate route.
- 8. **Start Date** This is the date that this version of the concurrency was created.
- 9. **End Date** This is the retirement date of this version of the concurrency. If this value is null, this version is still active.
- 10. **Reason(s) for being marked Invalid** This is the reason or reasons that this concurrency is marked as invalid. The possible values for this field and their meanings are:
  - REQUIRED\_FIELD\_NULL This means a key field has a null value
  - DUPLICATE\_INVERTED This means the same record exists twice but in one record the dominate route/measures are switched with the subordinate route/measures as opposed to the other record
  - INVALID\_OVERLAPS This means ones of two things: 1) a record for a dominant route has measures that overlap another record for the same dominant route and both records share the same subordinate route or 2) it means two records with the same subordinate route have overlapping subordinate measures regardless of dominant route
  - DOM\_MEASURES\_EQUAL This means a record has the same start and end measures for the dominant side of the concurrency
  - SUB\_MEASURES\_EQUAL This means a record has the same start and end measures for the subordinate side of the concurrency
  - DOM\_STARTS\_BEFORE\_ROUTE This means the start measure of the dominant side of the concurrency is before the start measure of the entire route
  - DOM\_ENDS\_AFTER\_ROUTE This means the end measure of the dominant side of the concurrency is after the end measure of the entire route
  - DOM\_UNKNOWN\_ROUTE This means the dominant route of this concurrency is associated with a route that is not in the system
  - DOM\_OVERLAPS\_A\_GAP This means the dominant side of this concurrency overlaps a gap
  - SUB\_STARTS\_BEFORE\_ROUTE This means the start measure of the subordinate side of the concurrency is before the start measure of the entire route
  - SUB\_ENDS\_AFTER\_ROUTE This means the end measure of the subordinate side of the concurrency is after the end measure of the entire route



- SUB\_UNKNOWN\_ROUTE This means the subordinate route of this concurrency is associated with a route that is not in the system
- SUB\_OVERLAPS\_A\_GAP This means the subordinate side of this concurrency overlaps a gap
- MEASURE\_RANGES\_DIFFER\_>\_0.1 This means the difference is greater than 0.1 between the measure range (end measure minus start measure) on the dominant side of this concurrency and the measure range on the subordinate side

#### 4.9 Invalidity Report - LRMs

The **Invalidity Report - LRMs** report is used to display LRMs that came through the interface to the buffer tables that do not meet the minimum quality requirements to be added to the AgileAssets system. If the full mode Interface is run, these routes will not be included in the new LRS. It is recommended that if any rows appear in this table when the interface is run in Test mode, that you do not run Full mode until this problem is corrected in Roads and Highways.

Each invalid LRM is displayed in a single row. Each row contains 12 fields:

- 1. **Object ID** This is the unique record identifier supplied by the Roads and Highways Export Network web service.
- 2. **Base Network ID** This is the identifier that Roads and Highways uses to identify the Network (LRM) associated with the base LRM.
- 3. **Base Route ID** This is the name of the base LRM route associated with this row.
- 4. **Base Start Measure** This is the base LRM beginning measure associated with this row.
- 5. **Base End Measure** This is the base LRM end measure associated with this row.
- Translated Network ID This is the identifier that Roads and Highways uses to identify the Network (LRM) associated with the alternate LRM referred to in this row.
- 7. **Translated Route ID** This is the name of the alternate LRM route associated with this row.
- 8. **Translated Start Measure** This is the alternate LRM beginning measure associated with this row.
- 9. **Translated End Measure** This is the alternate LRM end measure associated with this row.
- 10. **Start Date** This is the date that this version of this LRM row was created.
- 11. **End Date** This is the retirement date of this version of this LRM row. If this value is null, this version is still active.



- 12. **Reason(s) for being marked Invalid** This is the reason or reasons that this LRM row is marked as invalid. The possible values for this field and their meanings are:
  - REQUIRED\_FIELD\_NULL This means a key field has a null value
  - BASE\_MEASURES\_EQUAL This means that the start and end measures for the base LRM are equal
  - TRANSLATED\_MEASURES\_EQUAL This means that the start and end measures for an alternate LRM are equal
  - STARTS\_BEFORE\_ROUTE This means the start measure of the base LRM side of this record was before the start measure of the entire route
  - ENDS\_AFTER\_ROUTE This means the end measure of the base LRM side of this record was after the end measure of the entire route
  - UNKNOWN\_ROUTE This means the base LRM side of this record is associated with a route that is not in the system
  - OVERLAPS\_A\_GAP This means the base LRM side of this record overlaps a gap.
  - MEASURE\_RANGES\_DIFFER\_>\_0.1 This means the difference is greater than 0.1 between the measure range on the base side of this LRM record and the measure range on the alternate LRM side
  - OVERLAPS\_A\_LRM This means that the alternate LRM route and measures for this record overlap the measures of another record for the same alternate route
  - NEW\_LRM\_AND\_OLD\_LRM\_OVERLAP Checks to see if any of the LRM records provided by Roads and Highways overlap LRM records for existing AgileAssets LRM records for routes not impacted by this interface run



# 5 Workflow Steps – Full Mode

#### 5.1 Running the Full Mode Interface

To start the Full Interface, go to **System > Tools > System Job > Schedules**. Then scroll down and select **Roads & Highways Interface – Full Mode**. Right-click and select **Run Job**.

System - Security -	Utilities • Settings •	Tools +	FDC mgmt. • LRS Mgr	nt. 🔻	GIS Mg	gmt. • System Info. •	Project Mgmt.	• Rephrts+	🔅 🔻 🧉	PHIL
n System - 10013 - System 300 - Schedule.	• W							-	Save Data	C Retrieve Da
Jobs Log										
Schedules Actions v	:=	55	Executables Actions *							H 55
* SYSTEM JOB NAME	△ CRON EXPRESSION	Cor 🔺	* System Job Executable		* Order 🗅	Arguments		Comments		Attachmer
Roads & Highways Interface Full Mode	Insert Schedule		Run DB Procedure	•	10	PROC_FILL_DATA_YEAR_	NULLS			
Roads & Highways Interface Test Mode	Delete Schedule		Run DB Procedure	-	20	NET_EXT_REFRESH_BEF	ORE			
Run DB Procedure	Set Schedule		Roads/Highways Interface		30					
Run Equipment Odometer Update (Pay Perio	D Sort		Run DB Procedure	•	40	NET_EXT_RH_CHECK_R	DUTES			
Run Equipment Odometer Update Job	Find Work With Attachments		Run DB Procedure	-	50	NET_EXT_RH_CHECK_GA	PS			
Run Import Configuration	Export Data	0	Run DB Procedure	-	60	NET_EXT_RH_CHECK_CO	NCURRENCY			
Run Import Configuration - WV System Job	Clipboard Window Clipboard All Windows		Run DB Procedure		70	NET_EXT_RH_CHECK_LF	MS			
Run Import Configuration Archive			Run DB Procedure	•	80	NET_EXT_RH_CHECK_EV	ENTS			
Run Today PM Job	0 0 1/4 ? * 1-7 *		Run DB Procedure		90	NET_EXT_RH_QC				
Run Today PM Job Fleet			Run DB Procedure	-	100	NET_EXT_RH_ADD_INVAI	.ID_LRMS			
Safety-Calculate Diagnosis Norm Tables			Run DB Procedure		110	NET_EXT_RH_CLEAR_EV	ENT_ERRORS			
Salvage Yard License (Run once an year)			LRS Gateway	•	120					
<		× F	4					1		•
<< < 112 of 146 total rows > >>			<< < 1 of 14 total row	s> >>						

Figure 14 AgileAssets System Job Schedule Window

The time to run the job may vary significantly, but a range of 30 minutes to an hour is typical. You can either keep the window open to see status messages or hide the window and continue using the system for other purposes. If you choose to hide the window, you will get a message via the system when the job is complete. If you keep **Roads & Highways Interface – Full Mode** selected and click the **Log** tab you will see the messages produced by the job.



eports- Tree View Actions V	52	Reports A	ctions V								:= 53								
📄 😂 Reports		Report		On Dashboard	Public?	Shared	Comments	Right To See	Date Update	User Update	Report								
My Reports Show	w Report		Windows - List and Attributes		1			6 - Super 💌	02/10/2014	BHARGAVAAB1	BHAR								
E Dublic Setu	p/Show Re	/Show Report dule report to be emailed	Report - LRMs		1			3 - Read / W 💌	03/28/2016	SYSTEM	SYSTE								
Application Administration     Schedule rep     Copy     Copy			le report to be emailed	port - Routes		1			3 - Read / W 👻	03/28/2016	SYSTEM	SYSTE							
Find	stration Find ation Find Select This Select All Select All Select Visible Items Print eport - Concu Deselect This		d lect This lect All lect Visible Items	d act This act All act Visible Items	Find Select This Select All Select Visible Items Print	port - Gaps		<b>e</b>			3 - Read / W. 👻	03/28/2016	SYSTEM	SYSTE					
E Carlor Sele						elect This elect All elect Visible It int	elect Inis elect All elect Visible Ite rint	ect This ect All elect Visible Item int	ect All ect Visible Items t	t All t Visible Items	port - Concurrencies		1			3 - Read / W 👻	03/28/2016	SYSTEM	SYST
💽 📄 🏠 A) Test Mode Sele											Visible Items	ports - LRMs		1			3 - Read / W 👻	03/28/2016	SYSTEM
Full Mode Report - Concu Dese			eport - Concurrencies		1			3 - Read / W 👻	03/28/2016	SYSTEM	SYST								
🔲 🧮 Full Mode Report - Events Dese	Deselect All	elect All	)eselect All	Deselect All	Deselect All	eselect All	select All	eselect All	eselect All		eport - Events		Ø			3 - Read / W. 💌	03/28/2016	SYSTEM	SYST
Eull Mode Report - LRMs	Deselect Visible Items Set Bookmark Location		eport - Routes		¥			3 - Read / V 👻	03/28/2016	SYSTEM	SYST								
Security		Full Mode R	eport - LRMs		1			3 - Read / W 👻	03/28/2016	SYSTEM	SYST								
📄 🗀 Shared		Comparison	Report - Events		1			3 - Read / W 👻	03/28/2016	SYSTEM	SYST								
		Comparison	Report - Routes		ø			3 - Read / W. 💌	03/28/2016	SYSTEM	SYST								
		Comparison Report - Concurrencies			1			3 - Read / W 👻	03/28/2016	SYSTEM	SYST								

Figure 15 AgileAssets Reports Window

When the job is complete you can review the comparison reports by going to **System > Reports > Reports**. Then, in the left pane navigate to **Reports > Public > Roads & Highways Interface > Full Mode** to see list of full-mode reports. Right-click on a report and select **Show Report**. This will display a new browser page with the report. The report can then be downloaded in various formats. Note that the Invalidity reports covered in Sections 4.6 to 4.9 are also relevant to Full Mode interface runs.

Full Mode Report - Events													
<b>A</b> GILE <b>A</b> SSETS													
Full Mode Repor	t - Events	8						Download CSV •					
05/18/2015 11:12:12 1 2 3 4 >>> (4 Pages) Rows per page: 100 •													
Source Table Data Year/Location ID/Previous: Route Name/Previous: From Measure/Previous: To Measure New: Route Name New: From Measure New: Route Name New: From Measure New: Route Name Name New: Route Name New: Route Name Name New: Route Name Name Name Name Name Name Name Nam													
ATTENUATOR INVENTORY		109405276	3000200-MLSB00	189.306	189.306	3000200-MLSB00	189.306	189.306					
BARRIER_INVEN_DET		109550310	1007700-MLSB00	158.736	160.180	1007700-MLSB00	158.736	160.180					
BARRIER_INVEN_DET		109550310	1007700-MLSB00	158.736	160.180	1007700-MLSB00	160.200	160.365					
NETWORK_SECTIONS		110292903	1007700-MLSB00	95.340	160.180	1007700-MLSB00	95.340	160.180					
NETWORK_SECTIONS		110292903	1007700-MLSB00	95.340	160.180	1007700-MLSB00	160.200	187.210					
NETWORK_SECTIONS		110292953	3000200-MLSB00	114.058	115.403	3000200-MLSB00	114.058	115.403					
NETWORK_SECTIONS		110292954	3000200-MLSB00	138.421	139.028	3000200-MLSB00	138.421	139.028					
NETWORK_SECTIONS		110292955	3000200-MLSB00	139.948	140.165	3000200-MLSB00	139.948	140.165					
NETWORK_SECTIONS		110292956	3000200-MLSB00	142.342	142.898	3000200-MLSB00	142.342	142.898					
NETWORK_SECTIONS		110292957	3000200-MLSB00	149.648	150.151	3000200-MLSB00	149.648	150.151					
NETWORK_SECTIONS		110292958	3000200-MLSB00	154.897	159.044	3000200-MLSB00	154.897	159.044					
NETWORK_SECTIONS		110292960	3000200-MLSB00	183.901	185.966	3000200-MLSB00	183.901	185.966					
NETWORK_SECTIONS		110292961	3000200-MLSB00	189.237	190.286	3000200-MLSB00	189.237	190.286					
SECTION_INVEN_DET		108102228	1007700-MLSB00	158.720	160.180	1007700-MLSB00	158.720	160.180					
SECTION_INVEN_DET		108102228	1007700-MLSB00	158.720	160.180	1007700-MLSB00	160.200	160.350					
SECTION_INVEN_DET		111250439	1007700-MLSB00	158.720	160.180	1007700-MLSB00	158.720	160.180					
SECTION_INVEN_DET		111250439	1007700-MLSB00	158.720	160.180	1007700-MLSB00	160.200	160.350					
SECTION_INVEN_DET		108085679	3000200-MLSB00	155.270	156.450	3000200-MLSB00	155.270	156.450					
SECTION_INVEN_DET		108085553	3000200-MLSB00	156.450	158.506	3000200-MLSB00	156.450	158.506					
SECTION_INVEN_DET		108085554	3000200-MLSB00	158.506	158.784	3000200-MLSB00	158.506	158.784					
SECTION_INVEN_DET		108085680	3000200-MLSB00	158.784	158.870	3000200-MLSB00	158.784	158.870					
SECTION_INVEN_DET		108085681	3000200-MLSB00	158.870	158.888	3000200-MLSB00	158.870	158.888					
SECTION_INVEN_DET		108085682	3000200-MLSB00	158.888	158.905	3000200-MLSB00	158.888	158.905					
SECTION_INVEN_DET		108085683	3000200-MLSB00	158.905	159.044	3000200-MLSB00	158.905	159.044					
SMS_CRASH_DATA		111278220	3000200-MLSB00	138.421	138.421	3000200-MLSB00	138.421	138.421					
SMS_CRASH_DATA		111278891	3000200-MLSB00	138.421	138.421	3000200-MLSB00	138.421	138.421					

#### Figure 16 Full Mode Report for Events

There are four full mode reports and they are described below.



#### 5.1.1 Full Mode Report - Routes

The **Full Mode Report - Routes** report is used to display a comparison of the routes in the system as it was just prior to and after running the interface. This is primarily used with Full Mode interface to create a record of the results of the interface run.

Each changed route is displayed in a single row. Each row contains four fields:

- 1. **Route Name** This is the name of the route as it was just prior to running the interface.
- Previous: Route Description This is a concise description of the route as it was just prior to running the interface. It shows the extents of the route (the beginning and ending measures) plus any gaps in the route. This field will be empty if the route in question did not exist prior to running the interface job.
- 3. New: Route Description This is a concise description of the route as it exists in the AgileAssets system at the time of report generation. It shows the extents of the route (the beginning and ending measures) plus any gaps in the route. This field will be empty if the route in question does not exist after running the interface job.
- Status This field shows the word "Change" if the values on the "Previous" fields differ from the values of the "New" fields. Otherwise this field is blank. By default, a filter is applied based on this field to show only rows where this field is not null.

#### 5.1.2 Full Mode Report - Events

The **Full Mode Report - Events** report is used to display a comparison of the events in the system as it was just prior to and after running the interface. This is primarily used with Full Mode interface to create a record of the results of the interface run. Only changed events are shown in this report.

Each changed event is displayed. The report is divided into sections for each event table and data year. Each row contains nine fields:

- 1. **Source Table** This is the type of event this row represents. You can sort, or filter based on this field.
- 2. Data Year This field displays year data if it is available.
- 3. Location ID This is the identifier for the location of this event.
- 4. **Previous: Route Name** This is the name of the route associated with this event as it was just prior to running the interface.
- 5. **Previous: From Measure** This is the beginning measure of the event as it was just prior to running the interface.
- Previous: To Measure This is the end measure of the event as it was just prior to running the interface. For point events this is the same as the Previous: From field.



- 7. **New: Route Name** This is the name of the route associated with this event as it exists in the buffer table that was loaded by the interface.
- 8. **New: From Measure** This is the beginning measure of the event as it exists in the AgileAssets system at the time of report generation. For point events this is the same as the LRS Buffer: From Measure field.
- 9. **New: To Measure** This is the end measure of the event as it exists in the AgileAssets system at the time of report generation.

#### 5.1.3 Full Mode Report - Concurrencies

The **Full Mode Report - Concurrencies** report is used to display a comparison of the concurrencies in the system as it was just prior to and after running the interface. This is primarily used with Full Mode interface to create a record of the results of the interface run. Only changed concurrencies are shown in this report.

Each changed Dominant/Subordinate route combination that contains concurrencies is displayed in a single row. Each row contains five fields:

- 1. **Previous: Dom Route** This is the name of the dominant route as it was just prior to running the interface.
- 2. **Previous: Sub Route Name** This is the name of the subordinate route as it was just prior to running the interface.
- 3. **Previous: Concurrencies** This field shows the ranges of measures on the dominant route that corresponds to a range of measures of the subordinate route as it was just prior to running the interface. If the measures in the dominant range go from a greater measure to a lower measure this means the subordinate route increases measures in the opposite direction compared to the dominant route.
- 4. **New: Dom Route** This is the name of the dominant route as it exists in the AgileAssets system at the time of report generation.
- 5. **New: Sub Route Name** This is the name of the subordinate route as it exists in the AgileAssets system at the time of report generation.
- 6. New: Concurrencies This field shows the ranges of measures on the dominant route that correspond to a range of measures of the subordinate route as it exists in the AgileAssets system at the time of report generation. If the measures in the dominant range go from a greater measure to a lower measure this means the subordinate route increases measures in the opposite direction compared to the dominant route.

#### 5.1.4 Full Mode Report - LRMs

The **Full Mode Report - LRMs** report is used to display a comparison of the LRMs in the system as it was just prior to and after running the interface. This is primarily used with Full Mode interface to create a record of the results of the interface run.



Each changed Base LRM route/Alternate LRM route combination that contains alternate LRMs is displayed in a single row. The report is divided into sections for each alternate LRM represented. Each row contains six fields:

- 1. Alternate LRM Name This is the name of the alternate LRM referred to by this row. There may be multiple Linear Referencing Methods configured in a system. This field indicates which one is covered in each line.
- 2. **Base Route Name** This is the name of the base LRM route.
- 3. Alt Route Name This is the name of the alternate LRM route.
- 4. **Previous: LRM Measures** This field shows the ranges of measures on the base LRM route that correspond to a range of measures of the alternate LRM route as it was just prior to running the interface.
- 5. **New: LRM Measures** This field shows the ranges of measures on the base LRM route that correspond to a range of measures of the alternate LRM route as it exists in the AgileAssets system at the time of report generation.
- Status This field shows the word "Change" if the values on the "Previous" fields differ from the values of the "New" fields. Otherwise this field is blank. By default, a filter is applied based on this field to show only rows where this field is not null.



# 6 Interface Log

The Roads & Highways Interface makes use of an interface log to keep track of when the interface has been run and the outcome of each run. The log is integral to the working of the interface as the interface only asks for the changes to the Roads & Highways LRS since the last fully complete run of the interface.

#### 6.1 Accessing the Interface Log

To access the Interface Log, go to System > LRS Mgmt. > Roads & Highways Interface > Roads & Highways Interface Log.

	AGILEASSETS	Syste	em 🔻	WV 7.0.6.0-RELE/	\SE app. 17102	21953-	1805080815 Build	L NALLIKA1	0803 - Division o	f Highways / Agile - inks + 🏠 Set	Applicatio	on Adminis	strator • lelp
S	ecurity <del>+</del>	Utilities 🗸	Settings	- Tools -	FDC mgmt.	- I	LRS Mgmt. <del>+</del>	GIS Mgmt. 🗸	System Info.	<ul> <li>Project M</li> </ul>	gmt. 🔻	Repo	orts 🔻
	System >	LRS Mgmt. > R	oads & High	ways Interface > R	oads & Highway	s Interf	ace Log 🏠			Save Dat	a C	Retrieve	Data
	Roads & Higl	ways Interfac	e Log Ac	tions 🔻								:=	52
	Time the Web	Services were	invoked	LRS time given t	o the Web Servi	ices	Status			Comments			
►	07/01	/2017, 15:58:00		07/01/201	7, 15:58:00		COMPLETE						
	10/22	/2017, 06:03:35	iii	10/22/201	7, 06:03:35		RH_INTERFACE_	COMPLETE					
	10/22	/2017, 12:22:56		10/22/201	7, 12:22:56		ERROR						
	10/23	/2017, 15:45:39		10/23/201	7, 15:45:39	::*:	EXPORT_NETWO	RK_COMPLETE					
	10/23	/2017, 22:07:45		10/23/201	7, 22:07:45	1181	RH_INTERFACE_	COMPLETE					
	<< < <mark>1</mark> > >>	Rows 1-5 of 5 to	tal rows										

Figure 17 Roads & Highways Interface Log Window

#### 6.2 Interpreting the Interface Log

The 2 time fields (**Time the Web Services were invoked** and **LRS Time given to the web services**) should always have the same value and correlate to the time that interface run was initiated. It also is the "LRS Time" given to the Roads & Highways web services for that run. The times given to the web services for "Last Invoked Time" and "Last LRS Time" will be the time from the closest previous log entry that has a Status of "COMPLETE". That way the interface instructs the web services to give the changes from the last run to the current run.

The Status field can have these values:

- 1. **COMPLETE** This status means the full mode interface was run and completed successfully.
- 2. **RH\_INTERFACE\_COMPLETE** This status means the test mode interface was run and completed successfully.
- EXPORT\_NETWORK\_COMPLETE This status means the Export Network web service was called successfully but the interface did not complete. See the <u>Troubleshooting section</u> for help with this.



4. **ERROR** – This means the interface did not complete successfully. See the <u>Troubleshooting section</u> for help with this.

The **Comments** field is not populated by the interface but can be used by the user to add whatever information they want to attach to a given interface run.



# 7 Troubleshooting

When an interface run does not complete successfully, there can be several reasons such as a server being down, or the network being interrupted. Following are some recommendations for finding the source of the problem.

## 7.1 Job Log

When you run the interface, job entries are made in the job log about that run. You can find the job log by going to **System > Tools > System Job > Schedules**. Then scroll down and select the row for the type of interface you ran, such as Roads & Highways Interface – Full Mode or Roads & Highways Interface – Test Mode. Then click the **Log** tab at the top of the left pane. This takes you to a page with a list of all your interface runs in the left pane. The right pane shows the details of the interface run selected in the left pane.

MOASIS	System - Se	ecurity - Util	ilities 🛛	Settings +	Tools +	FDC mgmt. •	LRS Mgmt	• GIS M	gmt System Info	Project Mgmt. 🗸 🛛 Re	sperts <del>va</del> 🔅	• 0	2 PHIL
Syster Syster	n > Tools > System Job :	> Schedules 🏠									🗄 Save	Data C	🕇 Retrieve Data
Jobs Lo	3												
System je	obs logs Actions V		H 10	Jobs exec	cutables lo	gs Actions V							H 55
User ID	Start	Finish	v	Start		Finish	System Job	Executable	Comments		Error Text		*
▶ PHIL	05/09/2016, 12:22:4	8 05/09/2016,	, 13:31:26	05/09/201	6, 12:22:50	05/09/2016, 12:22:50	Run DB Pro	cedure	Run DB Procedure				
PHIL	05/09/2016, 10:40:4	8 05/09/2016	, 11:41:03	05/09/201	6, 12:22:50	05/09/2016, 12:28:46	Run DB Pro	cedure	Run DB Procedure				
PHIL	05/09/2016, 09:46:3	1 05/09/2016,	, 09:52:23	▶ 05/09/201	6, 12:28:47	05/09/2016, 13:31:26	Roads/High	ways Interface	Roads/Highways Interface		Server job fa	siled. For n	nore details or
PHIL	05/07/2016, 11:38:3	1 05/07/2016,	, 11:44:30										
PHIL	05/06/2016, 15:47:0	4 05/06/2016	15:53:05					Text Field Ed	itor (edit_text)		×		
				1				Actions ¥		20			
								http://dwarcv2	ed. For more details on the job, g agileassets.com:6080/arcgis/res	o to: t/services/WV_T/ExportNetwork/	3		
								PServer/Expo	t%20Network/jobs/j2e11b9ee9d	164c3889f77aabf51b138d WORK job			
								Conneuling In					
								L					
										Clos			
											- , _ )		-
	of 5 total rows			4	of 3	total rows > >>							
	o. o total loway				013								

Figure 18 AgileAssets System Job Schedule Window

Select the interface run of interest in the left pane and look for any entries in the **Error Text** field in the right pane. If there is an Error Text entry, the first thing you can tell is which substep of the interface run had the error. In the example above, it was the Roads/Highways Interface step. By double-clicking on the Error Text field, you can see the full text of the error message. In this case, the error message was created by the ArcGIS Server. The message has a URL that you can open in a browser to view the full error message.

#### 7.2 ArcGIS Server Manager

ArcGIS Server Manager tracks information about each web service call. The amount of detail stored in this tracked information is user-definable. Go to **Services > Manage Services** and select the folder with the web service of interest. Select the web service and then pick **Parameters** in the left pane. At this point you can set the Message Level. **Info** is the recommended choice.



ArcGIS Se	erver Manag	er	Services	Site	Security	Logs
Manage Services	OGC Services	KML Network Links	Sharing			
Editing: <u>Site (root</u>	t) > <u>WV_T</u> > Exp	ortNetwork			Help Save an	d Restart Cancel
General						
Parameters		Cluster				
Capabilities		Choose the cluster hosting	this service:	default		•
Pooling		Execution Mode				
Processes		Synchronous				
Item Description		Asynchronous (Recomm View results with	nended for long-running a map service	services)		
		Properties				
		Message Level:		Info		-
		Maximum Number of Reco	rds Returned by Server:			200000
		Directories				
		Jobs Directory:		C:\arcgisserve	r\directories\arcgisjobs	-
		Output Directory:		C:\arcgisserve	r\directories\arcgisout;	out 👻

Figure 19 Esri Manage Services Web Page in ArcGIS Server

To view the log, go to **Logs**. Set the **Log Filter** to your preferred level of detail and enter the web service you want information about.

💮 Arc	GIS Server Mana	ger	Services	Site	Security	Logs
View Logs	Error Reports					
Viewler	M		<u>Printer</u>	Friendly View   <u>He</u>	lp Columns Delete	Logs Settings
view Log	lviessages					
View log me	sages by querying based o	n the level, age and source of the r	nessages and clicking	Query.		
Change the Log Filter: F	evel of detail that the log n	nessages are generated at by clickin Source: WV_T/ExportNetwork.G	ng Settings. PServer 👻 Machine:	All Machines 🔻	Query	
Level	Time	Message		Source		
INFO	Feb 9, 2015, 1:01:08 AM	Geoprocessing service instance is su	ccessfully constructed.	WV_T/E	xportNetwork.GPServer	
INFO	Feb 8, 2015, 1:00:44 AM	Geoprocessing service instance is su	ccessfully constructed.	WV_T/E	xportNetwork.GPServer	
INFO	Feb 7, 2015, 1:01:23 AM	Geoprocessing service instance is su	ccessfully constructed.	WV_T/E	xportNetwork.GPServer	
INFO	Feb 6, 2015, 1:00:45 AM	Geoprocessing service instance is su	ccessfully constructed.	WV_T/E	xportNetwork.GPServer	
FINE	Feb 5, 2015, 10:48:00 AM	REST request successfully processed characters.	I. Response size is 225	WV_T/E	xportNetwork.GPServer	
FINE	Feb 5, 2015, 10:48:00 AM	REST request received. Request size	is 2 characters.	WV_T/E	xportNetwork.GPServer	
FINE	Feb 5, 2015, 10:48:00 AM	REST request successfully processed characters.	I. Response size is 5669	WV_T/E	xportNetwork.GPServer	
FINE	Feb 5, 2015, 10:48:00 AM	REST request received. Request size	is 2 characters.	WV_T/E	xportNetwork.GPServer	

Figure 20 Esri View Logs Web Page in ArcGIS Server



## 7.3 Troubleshooting Web Page

The web page below contains a list of problems and solutions that have been gathered over time.

https://docs.agileassets.com/display/\_PK/PD10/faq-rh

AgileAssets - Roads and Highways LRS Interface

User's Guide

8/20/2018



The Leading Global Provider of Integrated Infrastructure Asset Management Software Solutions.